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Summary of key statistics

Six Colleges 
19,591 students
1,286 academic, research and technical staff
1,933 associate lecturers 
1,521 support staff

Camberwell
1,954 students

CSM
4,709 students

Chelsea
1,531 students

LCC
4,702 students

LCF
5,815 students

Wimbledon
880 students

UK 49% International 35% Other EU 16%

Our student profile

Number of students at the University by course level

Undergraduate

14,961 1,644 2,986

Postgraduate and research Further education

Number of students and courses by college

20

Number of courses
Number of students

59 16 54 89 16
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Exactly 30 years ago, seven art and design colleges came 
together as the institution which later became UAL. This 
visionary decision ensured that they survived the radical 
restructuring imposed on local government in London 
at that time. Other art schools fell by the wayside. Our 
unification strengthened the colleges, and the university has 
become a global leader as a result. 
 
The last year has again shown our influence. The QS World 
University Rankings place us in the Top 5 universities in the 
world for art and design. HEFCE judged UAL’s teaching to 
be world leading in its latest funding round, and gave us 
access to additional funding.
 
Our new research partnership with King’s College London 
combines our design thinking and their policy expertise 
in the emerging field of policy innovation. Our two-year 
project with the International Curators Forum will address 
the under-representation of curators from minority ethnic 
backgrounds. We curated the largest ever exhibition of 
European performance design, touring to cities in China.
 
Meanwhile, our students, alumni and staff continue to rock 
the world. They formed over half the designers at London 
Fashion Week AW16, with four colleges represented. The 
2015 Turner Prize Winner was a collective that includes 
three UAL tutors; three out of four nominees for the Turner 
Prize in 2016 are UAL alumni. Amidst six Oscar nominees, 
alumna Jenny Beavan won an Academy Award and BAFTA 
for Best Costume Design for her work on Mad Max: Fury 
Road, which starred alumnus Tom Hardy. And alumna 
Stella McCartney designed the Team GB kit for Rio 2016.
 

Vice-Chancellor’s foreword

But UAL has rarely operated in a more uncertain and 
turbulent environment than now, at our 30th anniversary  
as an institution. 
 
Leaving the EU could have a profound impact on UAL in 
the longer-term, particularly to our research partnerships 
and in recruitment – we draw 15% of our students from 
the EU. Nevertheless, our plans will continue to be based 
on the conviction that knowledge and art are borderless, 
and will reflect our ongoing commitment to international 
collaboration.
 
At the same time, the Government’s new higher education 
legislation – launched at UAL – is the biggest shake-up for 
a generation. UAL has led a partnership with the Creative 
Industries Federation to ensure our sector’s voice is heard 
in the preparation of this legislation. The most financially 
significant change is the proposal to use the new Teaching 
Excellence Framework to determine future fee increases. 

I regret to report that the Government’s manifesto 
commitment to promote STEM subjects at secondary 
school has been achieved at the expense of arts subjects. 
This Summer’s GCSE entries saw a further fall of 7.7% 
in the uptake of creative, artistic and technical subjects, 
reducing the pipeline of prospective UK students into 
creative education. Again, we have worked with others to 
ensure the Government understands the impact on the 
creative economy.

In this context, we have further increased the involvement 
of college based staff in the way we run the University. Each 
Pro Vice-Chancellor now has an institution-wide remit. 
These include the student experience, research, digital, and 
international strategy. And we have created a new University 
Operating Board which includes all Directors of College 
Administration.
 
We are now well underway with our estates plans, which will 
improve the learning and the social experience for students. 
These will put UAL at the heart of creative enterprise zones 
at Stratford, Elephant & Castle and Camberwell, just as we 
have achieved at King’s Cross. We have already topped-out 
at Camberwell with a new hall of residence and additional 
teaching space.
 
I am confident that UAL will continue to meet its challenges, 
and deliver our strategy 2015 – 22, Transformative education 
for a creative world. While we will be tested, we can rely on 
our financial robustness, the direction of our strategy, and 
the stellar quality of our students, as we prepare for the next 
30 years.

Nigel Carrington
Vice-Chancellor
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Overview
Operating at the heart of the world’s creative capital, 
University of the Arts London (UAL) is a vibrant international 
centre for innovative teaching and research in arts, design, 
fashion and communication. As a creative university, our 
future is formed by the imagination, energy and skills of our 
staff, students, alumni and of the many academics from 
other institutions who work closely with us each year.

UAL is Europe’s largest specialist arts and design  
university, attracting over 19,000 students from more  
than 130 countries.

UAL is built upon the specific histories, identities and 
achievements of its six constituent Colleges, and their 
long tradition of engagement with creative, intellectual and 
professional life:

— Camberwell College of Arts
— Central Saint Martins
— Chelsea College of Arts
— London College of Communication
— London College of Fashion
— Wimbledon College of Arts

UAL is one of the world’s most renowned institutions  
for education in arts, design, fashion and communication. 
Our critical mass and reputation allow us to influence the 
creative and cultural economy in the UK, Europe  
and beyond.

Our staff and students are immersed in the cultural life 
of London, and connected into the city’s national and 
global networks. We are continually invigorated by these 
connections and contribute to their future development.

We actively influence global cultural debates through  
the diversity and international reach of our staff, students 
and alumni.

UAL awards more than 7,500 undergraduate and 
postgraduate degrees each year. We also deliver short 
creative courses and executive education to over 20,000 
students, generating through our subsidiaries additional 
annual income of over £10 million.

Over the next four years UAL will invest more than a quarter 
of a billion pounds in regeneration areas of London to 
develop our other sites by 2022. We will move our London 
College of Fashion to Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, and 
are working with City Hall on proposals for a fashion cluster 
for East London – a high-tech fashion counterpart of Tech 
City. We have put forward similar ideas for a business 
district in South London, focusing the digital creative 
content sector at Elephant & Castle.

Our Strategic Priorities
The University is focusing on four key strategic areas, as set 
out in our Strategy for 2015 – 22: 

Delivering transformative education requires us to ensure 
that all our students can reach their full potential. It requires 
us to work in partnership with them to develop and deliver 
an education that is responsive, responsible, imaginative 
and inspirational. 

Developing world-leading research and enterprise requires 
us to create and apply knowledge that develops our 
disciplines, makes a positive contribution to society and the 
economy, and generates new sources of income to support 
our academic ambition.

Communication and collaboration requires us to place the 
University at the centre of the debate about the future of 
arts, design, fashion and communication and to improve 
the ways in which we engage with academic, cultural and 
business partners, both in the UK and across the world. 

Building an inspirational environment requires us to 
have a world-class physical environment and underlying 
infrastructure. This is to support our students and staff in 
their academic ambitions and increases our engagement 
with our wider communities.

Operating and financial review
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Operating Review

Delivering transformative education
UAL was placed in the top five universities in the world 
in the QS World University Rankings for art and design 
2016, affirming our status as a leading global provider of 
art and design education. UAL was also recognised by an 
international panel as delivering “world leading specialist 
teaching” through the Higher Education Funding Council for 
England (HEFCE).

In order to provide consistent and harmonised support 
across colleges, we have introduced an integrated and 
centrally-led Admissions Service. This required us to 
restructure our College Academic Registries and will 
provide an enhanced applicant and student experience.

We established the Creative Attributes Framework after 
extensive consultation with employers, academics and 
students. The Framework is an innovation within the sector. It 
sets out what makes our graduates so effective and unusual 
in the workplace. The Framework and accompanying policy 
was approved at Academic Board in June.

A record 1,800 students and recent graduates attended the 
50 events during Graduate Futures week 2016, designed 
to help launch their creative careers. More than 1,000 
students gained valuable work experience through UAL’s 
internal recruitment service, known as ArtsTemps – the 
largest number ever to do so.

On International Women’s Day 2016, we launched the 
‘University Women in the Arts’ programme, supported by 
MA Dramatic Writing at Central Saint Martins. Open to all 
female students studying the arts at University level, 10 
participants will be mentored over the next academic year 
by 12 women who are leaders in the arts.

We launched several talent initiatives to address under-
representation of Black and Minority Ethnic staff at UAL, 
and help BAME professionals to navigate careers in 
arts, design and communications. En>route develops a 
dynamic community where ethnic diversity and cultural 
literacy inform our values, our curricula, our professional 
performance and creative expression.

Selecting the Best trains line managers to understand 
how personal bias, discrimination and stereotyping affect 
recruitment and selection decisions. As part of this, we 
established a pool of BAME interview panellists to sit on 
recruitment and selection panels.

Developing world-leading research and enterprise
As a Top 30 UK research university, we remain committed 
to world-leading research that raises our academic 
reputation and supports the creative economy.

UAL’s Black Artists and Modernism project has started 
a three-year programme to investigate the hidden story 
of black British artists in modern art history. This ground-
breaking research will bring new light to the UK’s national art 
collections and will contribute to diversity in the creative arts.

Dress for Our Time by award-winning artist and designer 
Professor Helen Storey travelled from Glastonbury to 
Geneva. Made from a decommissioned UN refugee 
tent that once housed a family from Jordan, Professor 
Storey used fashion and technology to design a wearable 
digital canvas. Creatively displaying big data, the dress 
communicates some of the world’s most complex issues 
with elegance and energy. It continues its tour in 2016/17, 
starting at the Science Museum in London.

Our students and staff work closely with big business to 
ensure our knowledge transfers into the wider economy. 
For example, Renault challenged MA Industrial Design 
students at Central Saint Martins to rethink the car interior 
for future self-driving vehicles. Created by Lily Saporta 
Tagiuri, Evgeniya Chernykh and Zhenyou Gao, Oura is 
gesture-controlled with an interior design created using 
virtual reality design technologies.

While we expect access to research funding to become 
more challenging in the next years, this will be balanced 
by our new Enterprise Strategy and Plan which sees us 
expand our business in short courses, language courses, 
creative qualifications and knowledge exchange. This will in 
increase income and help to support the drive to increase 
excellence in the creative sector.

Communication and collaboration
We have worked with government and key policy 
influencers to campaign for and support initiatives which 
highlight the value of creative arts education. This was vital 
in a year which included big changes to government higher 
education legislation. The Green Paper for these changes 
was launched at Central Saint Martins. We have worked 
closely with the Creative Industries Federation, with whom 
we established and now chair a higher education and 
further education working group to create new partnerships 
on these important issues. We supported campaigns 
such as Bacc to the Future, which aims to halt the decline 
in arts education at secondary schools arising from the 
introduction of the STEM policy.
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We invest considerable effort in ensuring that politicians 
gain a better understanding of creative education, inviting 
them to see our workshops and studios in action and 
meet lecturers, technicians and students. Visitors this year 
included Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London; Jo Johnson, MP 
Minister for Education; Rt Hon Mark Field MP for City of 
London and Westminster; Munira Mirza, former Deputy 
Mayor of London for Education and Culture; Wang Anshun, 
Mayor of Beijing; Polly Payne and Ruth Hannant, Co-
Directors of Higher Education at the the Department for 
Business, Innovation and Skills; and Gordon Marsden MP, 
Shadow Minister for Further Education and Skills, Labour 
MP for Blackpool South.

We are re-engineering our transactional services and 
business processes through the Online Estate Services 
Programme. In its first year, we have entirely reviewed 
our ecommerce strategy for short courses, an important 
revenue stream that is reliant on online sales. We have also 
delivered a fees and funding calculator and virtual tours of all 
of our College buildings and halls of residence for students 
and potential students. Our work on online forms will start 
to deliver efficiency savings over the next 18 months.

UAL students come from across the globe, and we are 
developing our network of international alumni associations 
in key countries. This year, we officially launched 
international associations in Beijing, Taiwan, Japan and 
the US East Coast, and established new alumni groups in 
Germany, Italy, Denmark, Australia and Portugal.

Building an inspirational environment
We have continued our long term estates development 
project over the course of 2015/16, advancing the design 
of our new campuses for London College of Fashion 
at Stratford and London College of Communication at 
Elephant & Castle.

UAL works closely with the communities around its 
colleges. We recently announced a joint venture in East 
London with housing association Poplar Harca and UAL’s 
London College of Fashion. The Fashioning Poplar project 
has been awarded £1.8 million from the Mayor’s London 
Regeneration Fund. It will include commercial studios, a 
fashion business space, a manufacturing unit, a fashion 
technology accelerator, a public café and an events 
space. The manufacturing unit will provide employment 
and training to a local workforce within Poplar and to ex-
offenders. It will link local people and enterprises to the 
future LCF campus at Stratford.

Leader of Southwark Council, Peter John OBE presided 
over our topping out ceremony in June 2016 for the new 
academic buildings and halls of residence at Camberwell 
College of Arts. The redeveloped campus is expected to be 
ready for the 2017/18 academic year. 

Operating and financial review

Mindful that increasing numbers of our students 
have complex lives outside their academic work, we 
successfully piloted a 24 hour library service, open to all 
our students, four days each week during term-time, at 
our Kings Cross campus.

To help students with the increasing cost of living in 
London, we worked with the Students’ Union to freeze rent 
prices on all standard rooms in our halls of residence, and 
this will continue as a zero-profit service. Our 24/7 halls of 
residence management service started this year. We have 
also increased welfare support for our residents. The Social 
Programme and the Student Welfare Mentor scheme have 
gone from strength to strength with even more students 
recruited for 2016/17 (39 students from 13 countries). And 
we have significantly refurbished several halls of residence, 
including Will Wyatt Court and Don Gratton House.

Sustainability
UAL plays a leading role in research, teaching and industry 
collaborations on environmentally sustainable fashion, arts 
and design.

UAL was the most improved major institution in the Green 
League 2015. We achieved a Gold Award for sustainable 
catering and were nominated for a 2015 Observer Ethical 
Award as one of the first universities applying the Chartered 
Institute of Procurement Specialist Sustainable Index to our 
supply chain.

We have taken notable steps forward with the rolling out of 
new energy efficiency measures designed to lower usage, 
as well as new processes for waste disposal designed to 
increase recycling while eliminating landfill.

We are committed to a responsible investment policy for all 
our endowments, reflecting the desire of staff and students 
to maintain a sustainable ethos while maximising the 
financial returns on the investments.

As part of our sustainability strategy, UAL has reviewed 
the management of our endowment assets with regard 
to investment in fossil fuels. The endowment assets are 
donations to UAL and our colleges for teaching and 
research, and constitute a small fund of £4.4m. None of 
UAL’s endowed funds are invested directly in fossil fuels. 
Mindful of the impact of climate change, UAL will continue 
to strengthen our investment policy to ensure that we do 
not indirectly invest in fossil fuels via managed funds.

The University actively monitors its Carbon Footprint 
including emissions. Last year the University achieved a 
14% reduction in emissions due to improved management 
of utility use. The University will continue to strive for 
improved energy efficiency in future years. 
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Alumni achievements

Alumna Jenny Beavan (Theatre Design, 1972) won an 
Oscar and a BAFTA for Best Costume Design on Mad 
Max: Fury Road. Other UAL alumni Oscar nominees in 
2016 include Michael Fassbender (BA (Hons) Acting, 
1999) for Best Actor in the film Steve Jobs, Tom Hardy 
(Hon Fellow 2015) for Best Supporting Actor in The 
Revenant, Eve Stewart for Production Design in The 
Danish Girl.

Turner Prize 2015 winners, Assemble collective 
included lecturer Maria Lisogorskaya, and visiting 
tutors Mat Leung and Louis Schulz. They are the first 
collective to win the prize and, aged from 26 to 29, they 
are the youngest winners. 

Women dominate the 2016 Turner Prize shortlist.  
All three female nominees, Josephine Pryde, Helen 
Marten and Anthea Hamilton, studied at UAL.

More than half of the designers showing at this year’s 
London Fashion Week AW16 studied at UAL, with four 
of our colleges represented on the catwalk.

As one of the UK’s leading specialist theatre institutions, 
UAL curated the largest ever exhibition of European 
Performance Design in China, featuring work from the 
Lion King by alumnus Richard Hudson, Cheek By Jowl 
by Nick Ormerod and Declan Donnelan, Ping by alumna 
Daphne Karstens, alongside designs by Thomas Rupert 
and Dimitry Krymov.
 
Emma Hart, lecturer on BA (Hons) Fine Art at Central 
Saint Martins, UAL, won the Max Mara Art Prize for 
Women 2016.

Alumna Stella McCartney, (BA (Hons) Fashion 
Womanswear) designed the Team GB kit for Rio 2016.

“ UAL is a 
key reason 
London 
is a world 
leader in 
arts, design 
and much 
more” 
Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London, 
visiting UAL in January 2016.
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Financial review
For the first time the University is reporting its financial 
results using the The Financial Reporting Standard 
102 (FRS 102) and Statement of Recommended 
Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education 
2015 (FEHE SORP 2015). Along with the sector, the 
University has updated its accounting policies and has 
recognised all significant relevant adjustments to the 
previously reported figures in the financial statements at 
31 July 2015, along with restating the opening reserves 
position on 1 August 2014. The changes do not not have 
any significant impact on the University’s overall financial 
position. A table detailing the adjustments to the previously 
reported figures is shown in note 28. Changes include 
the recognition of a provision for unused annual leave, a 
revaluation of buildings, and a change in the presentation 
and recognition of deferred capital grants. 

Income
The University has had another successful year generating 
a surplus of £26.7 million (2015: £22.9 million) which 
equates to 9.5% (2015 : 8.7%) of total income, broadly in 
line with UAL’s target of 10% of income. The whole of the 
surplus is allocated to UAL’s ambitious capital programme 
to improve accommodation for Camberwell College of Arts, 
London College of Communication and London College of 
Fashion.

We continue to develop our enterprise activities to help 
diversify our income streams and a Director of Academic 
Enterprise is focusing our work in these areas. Artscom, the 
University’s main trading subsidiary, continues to generate a 
healthy surplus to help support college activities and there 
were significant contributions from both UAL’s Language 
Centre and Awarding Body.

The University continues to receive high application levels 
and strong place acceptance rates. This reflects our 
continued global appeal as a leading creative University.

As in previous years, the University’s financial performance 
was underpinned by strong overseas fees which increased 
to £94.9 million (2015: £88.6 million). International students 
from outside the EU now comprise 35% of all students and 
help create a powerfully diverse community.

Bursaries and scholarships
It is vital that the University remains open to talented 
students regardless of their background or financial means . 
To support students with higher fees and those in hardship, 
the University offers a package of scholarships, bursaries 
and other support, spend during 2015 – 16 being over £5 
million. We aim to ensure that students from less well-off 
backgrounds are not deterred from applying. We have been 
successful in widening participation and are determined to 
ensure that higher fees do not impede further success.

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by £13.1 million and includes 
a 6.6% increase in staff costs as a result of the net effect 
of the nationally negotiated pay award; pay progression; 
pension adjustments; and a small overall increase in staff 
numbers. In addition during the year we continued to 
support initiatives including 13 cross-disiplinary University 
Chairs to build student engagement across UAL and 
Practioners in Residence in each of UAL’s 42 academic 
programmes.

UAL has continued to focus resources on the student 
experience. Operating expenses have increased by 3.2% 
on the prior year and key projects include extending 
the opening hours of our libraries, learning zones and 
the University Archive and Special Collections Centre. 
Improvements have also been made to the University’s 
IT infrastructure, including academic timetabling, a rolling 
programme to upgrade the University’s desktop facilities 
and the introduction of Office 365.

The University has been able to comply fully with Office 
for Fair Access requirements and in addition to this 
has awarded Vice Chancellor’s and other postgraduate 
scholarships totalling £2 million to encourage growth in 
postgraduate student recruitment.
 
Two new halls of residience have come on stream for the 
2015 – 16 academic year with the new hall of residence at 
Camberwell nearing completion. 

Operating and financial review
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Operating and financial review

Where the money goes

59p Teaching and research
22p Buildings, halls, 
catering and retail

6p Running the colleges

8p Central costs

5p External contracts, 
interest and depreciation

in every £1 spent by 
the University of the 

Arts London

Where UAL’s money comes from

34% International student fees

13% Grants and external contracts

13% Halls, catering, retail
and other income

40% Home /EU student fees

Total income: 
£280.9m
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Where the money goes

How costs split between staff and other costs

59p Teaching and research

42% non-staff costs

22p Buildings, halls, 
catering and retail

6p Running the colleges

8p Central costs

5p External contracts, interest and depreciation

58% staff costs

in every £1 spent by 
the University of the 

Arts London

Staff costs by area

83% teaching related

7% buildings, halls, 
catering, retail and 
external contracts

10% central costs

Non-staff costs by area

56% buildings, halls, 
catering, retail, external 
contracts, depreciation 
and interest

39% teaching related

5% central costs

Expenditure (£000)

Bursaries and scholarships

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

2009 –10 2010 –11 2011 –12 2012 –13 2013 –14 2014–15

Academic services

Cross university services 
(including Libraries, Registry, 
Outreach, Estates, IT, Finance 
and HR)

General education

Teaching departments

£10m

£5m

£15m

£20m

£25m

£30m

Non-staff costs by category

Staff costs by category

Student services

Repairs and maintainance

Halls, catering, retail 
and external contracts

Premises

Depreciation and interest

71% college-based staff:

Teaching  £49m
Technical  £15m
Research  £5m
Administration  £20m
Short courses and other £16m

The expression tuition fee is a misnomer 

‘Fees’ cover all 
the expenses of 
maintaining and 
running the University, 
including investment 
in buildings and 
equipment. 

UK/EU tuition fees are 
regulated by the British 
Government. The 
£9,000 fees was 
introduced in 2012–13. 
The University’s overall 
financial position was 
not improved as a result 
of the new fees regime 
because almost all 
state funding was 
withdrawn when the 
£9,000 tuition fee was 
introduced and the 
University was at the 
same time required to 
increase its spend on 
outreach and bursaries. 

Our fees for 
international students 
are internationally 
competitive.  

The British Government 
does not allow Universi-
ties to increase the 
UK/EU fee to reflect 
increased costs. 

By 2017, inflation since 
2012 is projected to 
reduce its value in real 
terms to just £7,700. 

29% cross-university staff

including Libraries, Registry, 
Outreach, Estates, IT, Finance 
and HR
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Operating and financial review

Where UAL’s money comes from

Why does the university make an operating surplus?
Institutions with major capital programmes generally aim for a target surplus of at least 10%. 

34% International student fees

13% Grants and external contracts

13% Halls, catering, retail
and other income

40% Home /EU student fees

UAL doesn’t make a profit? 
We reinvest all our money in making the university better.

£280.9m - £254.2m = £26.7m
Total income

To invest in the facilities 
we need to deliver the 

academic strategy

To guard against events 
that might damage 

UAL’s financial health

To ensure UAL can 
replace and refurbish its 
buildings and equipment

To ensure UAL’s 
activities remain 

financially sustainable 
in the long term

Total expenditure Operating surplus

Total income: 
£280.9m

Five-Year summary of performance

 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
 FRS 102 FRS 102

Total income (£m) 280.9 263.8 249.2 230.7 214.8

Surplus generated before exceptional items (£m) 26.7 25.3 26.1 14.7 10.3

Cash balances (£m) 60.1 71.6 65.8 60.7 62.1

Net Assets (£m) 251.5 274.5 253.4 240.5 202.4

Key performance indicators

 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
 FRS 102 FRS 102

Ratio of surplus (before exceptional items) to total income (%) 9.5 8.6 10.5 6.4 4.8

Ratio of staff costs to total income (%) 52 52 51 52 52

Days ratio of net liquid assets to total expenditure 265 298 243 202 179

Gearing ratio (%) 39 36 40 44 48
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Balance sheet
The University’s net asset position is £251.5 million (2015: 
£274.5 million) and has slightly reduced due to the increase 
of the defined benefit pension liability. Working capital 
has reduced slightly at year end due to differences in 
timing of receipts for the new academic year and spend 
on the Camberwell College of Arts Academic Extension. 
The student debtor levels continue to be well controlled 
notwithstanding the expansion of income and general 
economic climate.

Pensions
The University’s employees belong to two principal pension 
schemes; the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). A small 
number of employees are members of the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme.

Teachers Pension Scheme (TPS)
The TPS is an unfunded defined benefit scheme with 
contributions, which are made on a pay-as-you-go basis, 
credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by 
the Superannuation Act 1972. Under the provisions of FRS 
102 it is classed as a multi-employer pension scheme as 
the University is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, it is largely 
exempt from the requirement of FRS 102 to incorporate the 
financial position of the scheme within its year end financial 
statements. 

Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)
The USS is a funded defined benefit scheme and is also 
classed as a multi-employer pension scheme so that it is 
treated in the financial statements in the same way as the 
TPS detailed above.

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
The LGPS is a funded defined benefit scheme with assets 
held in separate trustee administered funds. The actuary’s 
report, prepared in accordance with accounting standards, 
calculates a funding shortfall of £161.5 million at 31 July 
2016 which compares to £107.4 million at 31 July 2015. 
This is largely due to a fall in corporate bond yields which 
are used to discount future pension liabilities. Yields have 
fallen significantly which has caused the value of future 
liabilities to increase. 

Liquidity and treasury management
The University has strong cash and short-term deposit 
balances which have remained consistent at £184.5 million 
(2015: £188.8 million). Most of the funds have been ring-
fenced for the forthcoming capital programme. A policy 
is in place for the investment of short-term funds which 
has been endorsed by the Finance Committee and the 
University’s internal auditors. The University’s funds are held 
in short-term deposits of up to one year in such a way as 

to optimise returns to the University while protecting the 
capital sum and ensuring that liquid funds are available to 
meet operating cash outflows and capital expenditure as 
they fall due.

At 31 July 2016 UAL had outstanding long-term debt 
financing of £98.0. million (2015: £98.9 million) which has 
been used to finance our capital programme. The loan is 
repayable in equal instalments over 25 years. UAL’s gearing 
ratio (external borrowing to income) is well within the 
University’s target. The University also has in place a further 
£80m facility to fund its future capital developments and 
a £45 million bridging loan facility to cover potential timing 
differences between capital expenditure and receipt of 
funds from the disposal of properties to be vacated.

Summary
With a healthy surplus, tight control of working capital, 
and a balance sheet that continues to strengthen, these 
financial results underpin the many initiatives being taken 
to deliver our strategy in each of its four strands: to 
transform education and enhance the student experience; 
communicate and collaborate as a world leading University; 
develop world leading research and enterprise by 
diversifying and expanding income streams; and build an 
inspirational environment by generating the funds that are 
essential for its capital programme. This includes our capital 
projects underway which will deliver a new hall of residence 
and the academic extension at the Camberwell campus 
‘transformative’ new campuses for London College of 
Communication and London College of Fashion.

Risks and uncertainties
As explained in the Corporate Governance statement, the 
University has in place an embedded risk management 
strategy and policy which have been considered and 
endorsed by senior management, the University’s internal 
auditors, the Audit Committee and the Finance Committee. 
The risk register is regularly considered and updated for 
changing key risks, priorities and mitigating factors.

The current top seven risks detailed on the University’s risk 
register are: 

Student recruitment and retention
The University has achieved its undergraduate home/EU 
and overseas student number targets for 2015-16 and 
the outcome for 2016-17 is expected to be acceptable, 
although recruitment for future years remains uncertain due 
to the many factors that may impact on recruitment. By 
continuing to meet our recruitment targets we will ensure 
that the University remains financially strong and is able to 
finance its planned capital programmes.
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Possible future decline in home applicant pool and loss 
of student numbers.
There is risk of a reduction in the number of applicantions 
from UK students due to changing government policy 
towards arts education at secondary/FE level leading 
to a reduction in domestic demand for art and design 
subjects. It is also possible that EU demand may also be 
adversely affected by BREXIT. A wide programme of work 
is underway to help plan for and limit any possible impact  
of this change.

Changes in higher and further education funding 
landscape
The University has successfully managed the impact on its 
funding and overall financial position following the change 
in the fee regime. However, it remains possible that the 
funding landscape could change further and this is an area 
which is key to maintaining the University’s financial health.

Capital programme objectives not achieved Rationalising 
and improving our property portfolio is a priority for the 
University. The risk rating of this area is high to reflect the 
possible significant impact in the medium term on the 
student experience should UAL not be able to significantly 
improve the estate and accommodation for our students 
and staff.

Major terrorism incident in London
In view of the increase in terrorist attacks around the world, 
a high risk has been added to the register to reflect the 
increased likelihood and significant impact of an attack in 
London. Various actions have been taken to plan for and 
mitigate the impact of the risk of a possible attack.

Cyber security 
There is a continuing threat to the University’s IT systems 
from a cyber attack. The University is taking various steps 
to strengthen its defences against cyber attack, increase 
awareness among staff and students and maintain further 
develop its systems and processes. 

Information technology
A number of major business systems changes and 
upgrades are being introduced across the University 
to enhance systems for staff and students. The 
implementation of a new student records system, a new 
customer relationship management system, and the re-
location of a data centre will have a significant impact on 
the services and functionality available. They will improve 
the quality of, and access to, data which will significantly 
improve the student experience as well as the organisation 
and management of academic activity. There will also be 
opportunities to rationalise processes across the University. 
Whilst the programme of works is ongoing and systems are 
implemented and stabilised the risk remains high.

Moving forward
The results for the year and strong balance sheet put the 
University in a good position to continue to deliver its strate-
gic objectives and progress its ambitious capital plans. The 
University has produced a budget for 2016 –17 which:

—  Manages changes in funding streams and achieves a 
balanced position

—  Permits full compliance with Office for Fair Access 
(OFFA) requirements for the direct benefit of students 
by setting aside a total of £7.6 million for bursaries and 
outreach

—  Continues to ring-fence £1.7 million of specialist funding 
so that UAL can continue with its many initiatives to 
enhance the academic experience of students

—  Maintains postgraduate scholarships to directly 
support students and to help and encourage growth in 
postgraduate student recruitment

—  Allows the University to continue its investment in 
specific IT, estates, and other projects for the benefit of 
students and staff in line with UAL’s 2015-22 strategy.

—  Provides for the agreed pay award and expected 
pay progression, pension cost increases and rise in 
employer’s National Insurance.

—  Maintains the budget surplus at the necessary level to 
generate the required funds to finance UAL’s capital 
programme for Camberwell, London College of Fashion 
and London College of Communication for the benefit of 
students and staff.

Operating and financial review
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Public benefit statement
University of the Arts London is an exempt Charity under 
the terms of the Charities Act 2011.

In setting and reviewing the University’s objectives and 
activities, the Court of Governors has due regard to the 
Charity Commission’s guidance on the reporting of public 
benefit and particularly to its supplementary guidance on 
the advancement of education. This statement has been 
included in response to the formal reporting requirement 
introduced by the Higher Education Funding Council for 
England (HEFCE) as the principal regulator of English higher 
education institutions under the Charities Act 2011.

The overall aim of the University of the Arts London, as set 
out in the Education Reform Act 1988, is:
—  to provide higher education
—  to provide further education
—  to carry out research and to publish the results of 

the research or any other material arising out of or 
connected with it in such manner as the University  
sees fit.

In implementing its aims and objectives the University is 
guided by the vision, values and priorities set out in its 
2015 – 22 strategy. The University’s core activities deliver 
substantial public benefit and to support this assertion the 
University aims to be transparent and accountable in the 
way that it manages any public funding that it receives.

The University continuously works to provide public benefit. 
Initiatives taken during the year include: 
—  The provision of significant bursaries, scholarships and 

fee waivers to widen participation on our courses.
—  Engagement with the community through a diverse 

schedule of events throughout the year, from summer 
degree shows to seminars and workshops.

—  Progression partnership agreements designed to 
promote the progression of students from further 
education institutions to University of the Arts London 
higher education courses.

—  Projects in partnership with local authorities, government 
departments and agencies, neighbourhood groups, local 
businesses and residents to ensure that we engage with 
the wider community in a way which is sensitive to the 
area’s people and urban landscape.

 

Sustainability strategy
University of the Arts London aims to create a culture of 
environmental stewardship in order to develop and integrate 
sustainable and ethical practice throughout all aspects 
of our life and work. Art, design and communication 
education can play a vital role in the development of 
a more sustainable future – the majority of a product’s 
environmental and economic costs can be determined 
during the design process and before production begins. 
UAL must therefore recognise the global implications of its 
activities and responsibilities. UAL wishes to maximise the 
positive environmental, social and economic impacts that 
result from these activities and operate within an ethical and 
responsible framework, specifically the UAL Environmental 
Management System, ISO50001 and the UAL Carbon 
Management Plan.

Governors
A list of the members of the University’s Court of Governors 
is set out on page five.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The governors in office at the date of approval of this report 
confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the University’s auditors 
are unaware; and each governor has taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken as a governor to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the University’s auditors are aware of that information.

Internal and external auditors
A market testing exercise for internal audit services was 
conducted during 2014 – 15 and a full market test for 
external audit services was undertaken in 2009 – 10. Both 
exercises were in accordance with the University’s financial 
procedures, the Financial Memorandum with HEFCE 
and EU procurement requirements. KPMG LLP were re-
appointed as the University’s external auditors for the year 
ended 31 July 2016. In May 2015 the Court of Governors 
approved the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
to provide internal audit services to the University for the 
year ended 31 July 2016 initially for a one year period but 
renewable annually up to a maximum of four years.

Creditor payment policy
It is the University’s policy to pay creditors in accordance 
with its statutory obligations or when they fall due for 
payment under the terms of a prevailing contract. Provided 
that the supplier is also complying with all relevant terms 
and conditions, the majority of suppliers’ invoices are paid 
within 30 days after the invoice date, unless other payment 
terms have been agreed.
 
 

Operating and financial review
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Nigel Carrington
Vice-Chancellor
21 November 2016

Sir John Sorrell
Chairman of the  
Court of Governors
21 November 2016

Staff and student Involvement
The University places considerable value on the 
involvement of its staff and students and on good 
communication with them. The University provides updates 
to all staff at regular intervals during the year, providing 
information on the University’s progress, performance and 
successes. The University recognises three trade unions 
and there is a formal structure for information, consultation 
and negotiation with their elected representatives. Funds 
are set aside each year for staff development, ensuring 
that technical, management and professional training is 
available to all levels of staff.

Social justice, diversity, and international reach are part 
of the University’s core values, behaviours and goals as 
embodied in our UAL Strategy 2015–22. In the strategy 
we demonstrate how we are committed to creating a 
diverse and inclusive learning and working environment for 
all our students and staff. The Strategy is aligned with our 
Equal Opportunities Policy, our Public Sector Equality Duty 
objectives and the regulatory requirements set by HEFCE 
and Ofsted.
 

Health and safety
The University aspires to achieve a positive health and 
safety culture. This requires commitment and active 
co-operation by staff and students alike, supported by 
sufficient resources, training and guidance. The University 
is committed to providing a safe and healthy working 
environment through:
—  the use of materials, equipment and machinery that are 

safe and do not present unacceptable risks to health;
—  information, instruction, training and supervision as 

necessary to ensure all staff and students can work 
safely;

—  the development of safe systems of work, reflecting best 
practice, so that staff and students expect good health 
and safety practices as a matter of course.

The University believes commitment to health and safety 
is essential in the proper execution of management 
responsibilities. It therefore ensures all managers have 
the necessary competencies and skills to achieve this. 
Health and safety is an integral part of planning within the 
University at all levels.

Conclusion
The University continues to strengthen financially and 
academically. This has been achieved through the effort of 
the University’s staff. We pass on the thanks of the Court of 
Governors to them all for their continued efforts.
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Corporate governance statement

The University is a higher education corporation established 
under Section 121 of the Education Reform Act 1988 and 
an exempt charity under charity legislation. Its governing 
document is the Instrument and Articles of Government 
which were approved by Orders of the Privy Council.

The University is committed to applying best practice in all 
aspects of corporate governance. This summary describes 
the manner in which the University follows the principles set 
out in the UK Corporate Governance Code of September 
2014. Its purpose is to help the reader of the accounts 
understand how the principles have been applied.

The Court of Governors is the University’s governing body. 
Members of the Court of Governors (known as “governors”) 
are the University’s trustees. The Court of Governors is 
made up principally of external lay members from whom 
its Chairman and Deputy Chairman are elected. Also 
included in its membership are University staff members 
and a nominated sabbatical officer of the Students’ 
Union as student governor. External lay members are not 
remunerated for the work they do for the University.

The Court of Governors is responsible for the University’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
Such a system is designed to mitigate rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Court of Governors is of the view that there is an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the University’s significant risks, that it has been in place 
for the year ended 31 July 2016 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report and accounts, that it is 
regularly reviewed by the Court and that it accords with the 
internal control guidance for directors in the UK Corporate 
Governance Code as deemed appropriate for higher 
education.

In line with HEFCE guidance, the University has in place 
a risk management strategy and policy which have been 
considered and endorsed by senior management, the 
University’s internal auditors, the Finance Committee and the 
Audit Committee (the governors’ lead body for assessing 
whether the University is effectively managing its risks).

Consideration of risk and associated control mechanisms 
is a standing item on the Finance Committee agenda. The 
Audit Committee’s role in this area is to ensure a high level 
review of the arrangements for internal financial control. The 
Court’s agenda includes regular items for consideration of 
risk and control and receives reports thereon from senior 
management and the Audit/Finance Committees. The 
emphasis is on obtaining the relevant degree of assurance 
and not merely reporting by exception.

At its meeting on 21 November 2016, the Court received 
the results of the annual assessment carried out by the 
Audit Committee for the year ended 31 July 2016. The 
Committee considered documentation from the senior 
management team, internal and external audit, and the 
assessment took account of events since 31 July 2016. 
These conclusions have been reported to HEFCE.
 
The Court of Governors
The Court of Governors meets up to five times per year. 
It endeavours to conduct its business in accordance with 
the principles of the Nolan Committee on standards in 
public life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; 
openness; honesty; leadership). It also conducts its 
business in accordance with the guidance to universities 
provided by the Committee of University Chairs (CUC). The 
CUC’s updated ‘Higher Education Code of Governance’ 
was published in December 2014. The Court has adopted 
the new Code in principle and is working towards full 
compliance. In line with CUC guidance, every four to five 
years the Court of Governors carries out an effectiveness 
review of the way in which it conducts its business. Such a 
review was last undertaken in summer 2012 by an external 
independent adviser. An action plan was developed to 
address agreed recommendations flowing from the review 
and this is revisited on a regular basis. The next review is 
scheduled to take place in 2017. 

The Court is responsible for the determination of the 
educational character and mission of the University 
and for oversight of its activities, including the strategic 
direction of the University; the effective and efficient use 
of resources; approval of annual estimates of income 
and expenditure; ensuring the solvency of the University 
and safeguarding of assets; the setting of a framework 
for the pay and conditions of staff; and more specifically 
the appointment, appraisal and dismissal of the Vice-
Chancellor, Clerk to the Court and other senior managers. 
The Court is also responsible for appointing (i) governors 
within the parameters set out in the Instrument and 
Articles of Government, and subject to the responsibilities 
of the Committee of Independent Governors; and (ii) its 
Chairman and Deputy Chairman. The Court has established 
several committees, including a Chairman’s Committee, 
a Finance Committee, a Nominations Committee, 
a Personnel Committee, an Estates Committee, a 
Conferments Committee and an Audit Committee. All of 
these Committees are formally constituted with terms of 
reference, and are comprised of mainly lay members of the 
Court. The Committees undertake a review of their own 
terms of reference and effectiveness on an annual basis. 
The governing document of the University requires the 
Court of Governors also to establish an Academic Board 
which is comprised of academics, senior managers, and 
representatives of staff and students. There are no external 
lay members on this Board.
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Academic Board
The Academic Board is responsible for the academic life 
of the University in relation to teaching and research. It 
operates though a committee structure which also covers 
the six constituent colleges. It meets three times a year. 
 
Chairman’s Committee
The Chairman’s Committee meets on an ad-hoc basis. 
The Committee is able to act on urgent matters requiring 
authorisation on behalf of the University between meetings 
of the Court; and to consider and make recommendations 
to the Court on matters of complexity. The Committee 
has met three times during 2015 – 16, to consider matters 
relating to the Capital Programme. 

Committee of Independent Governors
This committee is the appointing body for independent 
governors in certain circumstances as set out in the 
Instrument and Articles of Government.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee, inter alia, recommends to the 
Court the University’s annual revenue and capital budgets 
and monitors performance in relation to the approved 
budgets. The Finance Committee can act for the Court on 
specific financial issues where delegated authority has been 
given. It meets three times a year at minimum.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee, which meets, on average, 
three times a year, considers nominations for vacancies 
in the Court membership for external lay governors in 
accordance with the University’s Instrument and Articles of 
Government. It has approved an appointments process, 
including a role description for governors and a policy on 
reappointments, to assist it in undertaking this duty. An 
advertisement inviting applications for governor vacancies is 
available on the University web site.

The Committee regularly reviews the composition of 
the governing body and evaluates the specific skills, 
knowledge, and experience required to fill potential 
vacancies. 

In considering the profile of the governing body and 
any future recruitment, the Nominations Committee has 
regard to the University’s Equal Opportunities Policy 
as set out within the Equality and Diversity Framework. 
The Committee seeks to promote gender balance and 
ethnic diversity in its nominations and appointments. The 
Committee has an awareness of the student and staff 
profile in making its recommendations. 

The Committee also considers potential reappointments 
of serving governors having given due regard to their 
performance and ability to contribute to the Court of 

Governors in the light of the knowledge, skills and 
experience required within the governing body overall.

It also considers arrangements for elections to staff 
governor vacancies on behalf of the Court of Governors.
 
Personnel Committee
The Personnel Committee is responsible for advising the 
Court on employment and other staffing matters for which 
the Court is responsible. The Committee ensures that the 
University has appropriate mechanisms in place to deliver 
effective consultation and negotiations with recognised 
trade unions. Additionally, the Personnel Committee acts as 
the University’s Remuneration Committee, in determining 
the remuneration of senior staff, including the Vice-
Chancellor, and endorsing the pay award for other staff. 
The Committee considers the University’s Health and Safety 
matters, and Equality and Diversity matters, and makes 
recommendations thereon to the Court of Governors. The 
Committee meets three times a year. 
 
Estates Committee
The Estates Committee is responsible for advising the 
Court and Vice-Chancellor on all matters relating to the 
University’s property portfolio. The Committee meets three 
times a year at minimum.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has four scheduled meetings a 
year, with the University’s external and internal auditors in 
attendance. The Committee monitors risk management 
arrangements and internal control. It considers detailed 
reports together with recommendations for the 
improvement of the University’s systems and control 
environment along with management’s responses and 
implementation plans. It also receives and considers reports 
from the Funding Council, as they affect the University’s 
business, and monitors adherence to the regulatory 
requirements. Whilst senior executives attend meetings of 
the Audit Committee as necessary, they are not members 
of the Committee and the Committee meets with the 
internal and external auditors on their own for independent 
discussions.

Conferments Committee
The Conferments Committee is responsible for considering 
and deciding upon honorary awards by the University and 
for partner colleges when requested to do so. It meets two 
to three times a year.

Going Concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Governing Body 
considers that the University has adequate resources to 
continue in operation/existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Statement of the Court of Governors’
responsibilities

In accordance with the Education Reform Act 1988 and 
the University’s Instrument and Articles of Government, 
the Court of Governors of the University is responsible for 
the administration and management of the affairs of the 
University, including an effective system of internal control, 
and is required to present audited financial statements for 
each financial year.

The Court is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the University and to enable 
it to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the University’s Articles of Government, 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for 
Further and Higher Education and other relevant accounting 
standards. In addition, within the terms and conditions 
of a Financial Memorandum agreed between the Higher 
Education Funding Council for England and the Court 
of the University, the Court, through its designated office 
holder, the Vice-Chancellor, is required to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the University and group and of 
the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.

The Court is responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the 
University’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

In preparing those financial statements, the Court is 
required to:
—  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;
—  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent;
—  state whether applicable Accounting Standards have 

been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

—  prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
University will continue in operation.

The Court has taken reasonable steps to:
—  ensure that funds from the Higher Education Funding 

Council for England (HEFCE), the Education Funding 
Agency (EFA) and the Skills Funding Agency (SFA) 
are used only for the purposes for which they have 
been given and in accordance with the Financial 
Memorandum with the HEFCE and any other conditions 
which the HEFCE, the EFA and the SFA may from time 
to time prescribe;

—  ensure that there are appropriate financial and 
management controls in place to safeguard public funds 
and funds from other sources;

—  safeguard the assets of the University and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities;

—  secure the economical, efficient and effective 
management of the University’s resources and 
expenditure.

The key elements of the University’s system of internal 
financial control, which is designed to discharge the 
responsibilities set out above, include the following:
—  clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the 

authority delegated to, heads of academic and 
administrative departments;

—  a comprehensive medium and short-term planning 
process, supplemented by detailed annual income, 
expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets;

—  regular reviews of academic performance and financial 
results involving variance reporting and updates of 
forecast outturns;

—  clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval 
and control of expenditure, with investment decisions 
involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject 
to formal detailed appraisal and review according to 
approval levels set by the Court of Governors;

—  comprehensive financial regulations, detailing financial 
controls and procedures, reviewed by the Audit 
Committee and Finance Committee and approved by 
the Court of Governors;

—  a professional internal audit team whose annual 
programme is approved by the Audit Committee and 
whose head provides the Court with a report on internal 
audit activity within the University and an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the University’s system of 
internal control, including internal financial control.

Any system of internal financial control can, however, only 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.
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knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing 
the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
—  give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and 

the University’s affairs as at 31 July 2016 and of the 
Group’s and University’s income and expenditure, gains 
and losses, changes in reserves and cash flows for the 
year then ended; 

—  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
and with the 2015 Statement of Recommended 
Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education; 
and

—  meet the requirements of HEFCE’s Accounts direction 
to higher education institutions for 2015 – 16 financial 
statements.

Opinion on other matters prescribed in the HEFCE 
Audit Code of Practice (effective 1 August 2014) issued 
under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992
In our opinion, in all material respects:
—  funds from whatever source administered by the Group 

and the University for specific purposes have been 
properly applied to those purposes and managed in 
accordance with relevant legislation; 

—  income has been applied in accordance with the 
University’s Statutes;

—  funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in 
accordance with the Memorandum of Assurance and 
Accountability and any other terms and conditions 
attached to them; and

—  the corporate governance and internal control 
requirements of HEFCE’s Accounts direction to higher 
education institutions for 2015 – 16 financial statements 
have been met. 

Fleur Nieboer 
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square, London, E14 5GL

 November 2016

Independent auditor’s report
to the Court of Governors of 
University of the Arts London

We have audited the financial statements of University of 
the Arts London for the year ended 31 July 2016 set out 
on pages 32 to 63. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS 
102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland.

This report is made solely to the Court of Governors, 
in accordance with the Charters and Statutes of the 
institution. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Court of Governors those matters we are 
required to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Court of Governors for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Court of Governors 
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Court of 
Governors’ Responsibilities set out on page 30 the Court 
of Governors is responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements which give a true and fair view. 

Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion, on 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and 
University’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the Court of 
Governors; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
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  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 Notes

Income     
Tuition fees and education contracts 1 207,542 197,532 197,688 187,724
Funding body grants 2 34,099 34,099 34,351 34,351
Research grants and contracts 3 1,236 1,236 793 793
Other income 4 34,665 38,181 28,206 31,079
Investment income 5 1,895 1,892 1,675 1,670
Donations and endowments 6 1,453 1,453 1,042 1,042

Total income  280,890 274,393 263,755 256,659

     
Expenditure
Staff costs  7 146,767 139,993 137,697 131,141
Other operating expenses 9 97,723 98,177 94,690 94,877
Depreciation  11 2,694 2,694 2,696 2,696
Interest and other finance costs 8 7,000 6,926 6,048 6,001

Total expenditure 9 254,184 247,790 241,131 234,715

     
Surplus before other gains losses  26,706 26,603 22,624 21,944
Gain on disposal of fixed assets  – – 157 157
Gain on investments 21/22 19 19 154 154

Surplus before tax  26,725 26,622 22,935 22,255
Actuarial (loss) in respect of pension schemes 28  (49,670) (49,672) (21,643) (20,960)

Total comprehensive income for the year  (22,945) (23,050) 1,292 1,295

Represented by:      
Endowment comprehensive income for the year  319 319 184 184
Restricted comprehensive income for the year  (592) (592) 175 175
Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year  (22,367) (22,472) 1,238 1,241
Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year  (305) (305) (305) (305)

  (22,945) (23,050) 1,292 1,295

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities. 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Consolidated and University Statement of  
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Year Ended 31 July 2016

As restated
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Consolidated  Income and expenditure account  Revaluation reserve Total
 Endowment Restricted  Unrestricted 
 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
 
Balance at 1 August 2014 (as restated) 3,941 2,403 246,346 20,503 273,193
      
Surplus/(deficit) from the income and expenditure statement 217 434 22,284  –  22,935
Other comprehensive income  –   –  (21,643)  –  (21,643)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve  –   –  305 (305)  – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (33) (259) 292  –   – 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year 184 175 1,238 (305) 1,292

Balance at 1 August 2015 (as restated) 4,125 2,578 247,584 20,198 274,485

Surplus/(deficit) from the income and expenditure statement 347 461 25,917  –  26,725
Other comprehensive income  –   –  (49,670) – (49,670)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve  –   –  305 (305)  – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (28) (1,053) 1,081  –   – 

Total comprehensive income for the year 319 (592) (22,367) (305) (22,945)

Balance at 31 July 2016 4,444 1,986 225,217 19,893 251,540

University  Income and expenditure account  Revaluation reserve Total
 Endowment Restricted  Unrestricted 
 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Balance at 1 August 2014 (as restated) 3,941 2,403 246,615 20,503 273,462
Surplus/(deficit) from the income and expenditure statement 217 434 21,604  –  22,255
Other comprehensive income  –   –  (20,960)  –  (20,960)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve  –   –  305 (305)  – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (33)  (259)  292  –   – 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year 184 175 1,241 (305) 1,295

 
Balance at 1 August 2015 (as restated) 4,125 2,578 247,856 20,198 274,757
 
Surplus/(deficit) from the income and expenditure statement 347 461 25,814  –  26,622
Other comprehensive income  –   –  (49,672)  –  (49,672)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve  –   –  305  (305)  – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (28) (1,053) 1,081  –   – 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year 319 (592) (22,472) (305) (23,050)
 
Balance at 31 July 2016 4,444 1,986 225,384 19,893 251,707

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Consolidated and University 
Statement of Changes in Reserves 
Year Ended 31 July 2016
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  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 
Non-current assets
Negative goodwill 10 (4,434) (4,434) (4,523) (4,523)
Fixed assets 11 389,736 390,066 354,634 354,963
Heritage assets 11/12 20,400 20,400 20,400 20,400
Investments 13 1 1 1 1

  405,703 406,033 370,512 370,841

Current assets
Stock 14 434 396 493 440
Trade and other receivables 15 8,146 10,009 7,788 7,748
Investments 16 124,421 124,421 117,075 117,075
Cash and cash equivalents 22 60,133 59,309 71,681 71,008

  193,134 194,135 197,037 196,271

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (56,399) (59,777) (54,508) (55,856)
 
Net current assets  136,735 134,358 142,529 140,415

 
Total assets less current liabilities  542,438 540,391 513,041 511,256

 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (118,133) (118,131) (119,518) (119,518)
 
Provisions
Pension provisions 19 (168,766) (166,554) (114,674) (112,617)
Other provisions 19 (3,999) (3,999) (4,364) (4,364)

Total net assets   251,540 251,707 274,485 274,757

 
Restricted reserves 
Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve 20 4,444 4,444 4,125 4,125
Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve 21 1,986 1,986 2,578 2,578

Unrestricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted  225,217 225,384 247,584 247,856
Revaluation reserve  19,893 19,893 20,198 20,198

Total reserves  251,540 251,707 274,485 274,757

Consolidated and University 
Balance Sheet 
as at 31 July 2016

The financial statements were approved by the Court of Governors on 21 November 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

   
Nigel Carrington Sir John Sorrell Lorraine Baldry
Vice-Chancellor Chairman of the Court of Governors Chairman of the  
  Finance Committee

As restated

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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  2016 2015
 Notes £000 £000

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year  26,725  22,935 

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 11  2,694  2,696 
Benefit on acquisitions released to Income 10  (89) (89)
(Gain) on investments 21  (19)  (154)
Decrease/(increase) in stock 14  59  (53)
(Increase)/Decrease in debtors 15  (358) 2,854 
Increase in creditors 17  1,393 4,843 
Increase in pension provision 20  4,422  3,265
(Decrease) in other provisions 20  (365) (122)

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income 5  (1,895) (1,675)
Interest payable 8  1,941  1,855 
Endowment income  (275)  – 
Profit on the sale of fixed assets   –  (157)
Capital grant income  (1,513) (1,642)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  32,720  34,556 

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets   –  157 
Capital grants receipts  1,513  1,642 
Withdrawal of deposits  (7,052) (29,209)
Investment income  1,895  1,675 
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (37,796) (585)
New deposits  (275)  – 

  (41,715) (26,320)
    
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid  (1,941) (1,855)
Endowment cash received  275   – 
Repayments of amounts borrowed  (887) (887)

  (2,553) (2,742)
    
    
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year  (11,548) 5,494 
    
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 22 71,681  66,187
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 60,133  71,681 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2016

As restated

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Statement of principal accounting policies

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015 
and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (FRS 
102). The University is a public benefit entity and therefore 
has applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS 
102. The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention. The functional currency 
used in the preparation of the financial statements is sterling.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the University 
and all its subsidiaries for the financial year to 31 July 2016. 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the period are included in the consolidated statement of 
income and expenditure from the date of acquisition or 
up to the date of disposal. Intra-group transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements do not include the 
income and expenditure of the Students’ Union as the 
University does not exert control or dominant influence over 
policy decisions.

Income recognition     
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure when the goods or services are supplied to the 
external customers or the terms of the contract have been 
satisfied

Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not 
a discount and credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the period 
in which students are studying. Where the amount of the 
tuition fee is reduced, by a discount for prompt payment, 
income receivable is shown net of the discount. Bursaries 
and scholarships are accounted for gross as expenditure 
and not deducted from income.

The University receives income under the National 
Scholarships Programme. Where the income is used to 
fund students using University services the income is shown 
net of expenditure as a discount.

Investment income is credited to the statement of income 
and expenditure on a receivable basis.

Funds the University receives and disburses as paying 
agent on behalf of a funding body are excluded from 
the income and expenditure of the University where the 
University is exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal 
economic benefit related to the transaction.

Grant funding
Government revenue grants including funding council block 
grant and research grants are recognised in income over 
the periods in which the University recognises the related 
costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. Where 
part of a government grant is not expended it is recognised 
as deferred income within creditors and allocated between 
creditors due within one year and due after more than one 
year as appropriate.

Grants (including research grants) from non-government 
sources are recognised in income when the University is 
entitled to the income and performance related conditions 
have been met. Income received in advance of performance 
related conditions being met is recognised as deferred 
income within creditors on the balance sheet and released 
to income as the conditions are met.

Donations and endowments
Non exchange transactions without performance related 
conditions are donations and endowments. Donations and 
endowments are recognised in income when the University 
is entitled to the funds. Where there are donor imposed 
restrictions, income is retained within the restricted reserve 
until such time that it is utilised in line with such restrictions 
at which point the income is released to general reserves 
through a reserve transfer. Donations with no restrictions 
are recognised in income when the University is entitled to 
the funds.

Investment income and appreciation of endowments is 
recorded in income in the year in which it arises and as 
either restricted or unrestricted income according to the 
terms other restriction applied to the individual endowment 
fund.

There are four main types of donations and endowments 
identified within reserves:
1.  Restricted donations – the donor has specified that the 

donation must be used for a particular objective
2.  Unrestricted permanent endowments – the donor has 

specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to 
generate an income stream for the general benefit of the 
University.

3.  Restricted expendable endowments – the donor has 
specified a particular objective other than the purchase or 
construction of tangible fixed assets, and the University 
has the power to use the capital

4.  Restricted permanent endowments – the donor has 
specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to 
generate an income stream to be applied to a particular 
objective.
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Capital grants
Government capital grants are recognised in income over 
the expected useful life of the asset. Other capital grants 
are recognised in income when the University is entitled 
to the funds subject to any performance related condi-
tions. 

Accounting for retirement benefits
The three principal pension schemes for the University’s 
staff are the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), 
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The schemes are 
defined benefit schemes which are externally funded and 
contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). Each 
fund is valued every three to five years by professionally 
qualified independent actuaries.
 
Defined Contribution Plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which the University pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement in the 
periods during which services are rendered by employees. 
The TPS and USS are treated as defined contribution plans.

Defined Benefit Plan
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans 
other than defined contribution plans. Under defined benefit 
plans, the University has an obligation to provide agreed 
benefits to current and former employees, and actuarial 
risk (that benefits will cost more or less than expected) and 
investment risk (that returns on assets set aside to fund the 
benefits will differ from expectations) are borne, in sub-
stance, by the University. The Group recognises a liability 
for its obligations under defined benefit plans net of plan 
assets. This net defined benefit liability is measured as the 
estimated amount of benefit that employees have earned 
in return for their service in the current and prior periods, 
discounted to determine its present value, less the fair value 
(at bid price) of plan assets. The calculation is performed by 
a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. 
Where the calculation results in a net asset, recognition of 
the asset is limited to the extent to which the University is 
able to recover the surplus either through reduced contribu-
tions in the future or through refunds from the plan.

Further detail on accounting for the pension schemes is 
provided within the note to the accounts.

Employment benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and 
compensated absences are recognised as an expense 
in the year in which the employees render service to the 
University. Any unused benefits are accrued and measured 
as the additional amount the University expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement.

Finance leases
Leases in which the University assumes substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are 
classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by 
way of finance lease and the corresponding lease liabilities 
are initially recognised at an amount equal to the lower of 
their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

At present there are no assets held under finance lease. 

Service Concession Arrangements
Fixed assets held under service concession arrangements 
are recognised on the Balance Sheet at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments when the assets are 
bought into use with a corresponding financial liability.

Payments under the service concession arrangement are 
allocated between service costs, finance charges and 
financial liability repayments to reduce the financial liability 
to nil over the life of the arrangement. 

At present there are no Service Concession Arrangements.

Operating leases 
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a 
straight line basis over the lease term.

The University holds a number of nominations agreements 
with student accommodation service providers. The 
University has assessed the agreements and is treating 
them as operating leases. The agreements guarantee 
that University students will occupy a minimum proportion 
of rooms within a property over a year. The operation of 
each agreement varies. Depending on the occupancy 
level attained against the guaranteed occupancy level, the 
University will either receive surplus income from the service 
provider or make a payment to cover under-occupancy.
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Where information is available on the rent collected from 
students by the service provider, and the service provider is 
considered to be acting as an agent for the University, the 
net payment or receipt is grossed-up to show both income 
and expenditure separately in the financial statements. 
Where this information is not readily obtainable by the 
University, the net payment is shown against expenditure 
and a receipt is shown as income. 

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into sterling either at 
year-end rates or, where there are related forward foreign 
exchange contracts, at contract rates. The resulting 
exchange differences are dealt with in the determination of 
income and expenditure for the financial year.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation.
Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items of fixed assets.

Land and buildings
The cost of land and buildings inherited on incorporation 
cannot readily be ascertained and is therefore included 
on the basis of valuations carried out in November 1989 
using the assumption that the buildings will continue in 
educational use. Other land and buildings are included in 
the balance sheet at cost.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold buildings are 
depreciated over their expected useful life to the University 
of up to 50 years. Where property held is listed, it is 
deemed to have an infinite useful life and, thus, charges for 
depreciation are not material. Leasehold land and buildings 
are amortised over 50 years or, if shorter, the period of the 
lease. Improvements to freehold buildings are depreciated 
over 10 to 20 years.

Where land and buildings are acquired with the aid of 
specific grants they are capitalised and depreciated as 
above.

Buildings under construction are accounted for at cost, 
based upon the value of architects’ certificates and 
other direct costs incurred during the year. They are not 
depreciated until they are brought into use. Finance costs 
which are directly attributable to the construction of land 
and buildings are not capitalised as part of the cost of  
those assets.

Equipment
Equipment costing less than £40,000 per individual item 
is written off to the income and expenditure account in the 
year of acquisition. All other equipment is capitalised at 
cost. Capitalised equipment is depreciated over its useful 
economic life as follows:
Computer equipment  3 years
Fixtures, fittings and other equipment  5 years

Where equipment is acquired with the aid of specific grants 
it is capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the 
above policy.

Finance costs which are directly attributable to the 
construction of land and buildings are not capitalised as 
part of the cost of those assets.

Heritage assets
Assets that are of historical, scientific, artistic or 
technological value and are held and maintained by the 
University primarily for their contribution to knowledge 
and culture are recognised in the balance sheet at 
valuation. The value of the assets is periodically reviewed 
to ensure they are adequately stated. Gains and losses on 
revaluation are recognised in the statement of recognised 
gains and losses. No depreciation is charged on heritage 
assets as they are expected to have a long economic 
life. Maintenance costs are charged to the income and 
expenditure account when incurred.

Intangible assets and Goodwill
Negative goodwill arising in respect of the activities of 
colleges transferred to the University is included within fixed 
assets. Negative goodwill is amortised over the service lives 
of long life assets to which the goodwill is attributed. Where 
the negative goodwill relates to land it is amortised over 5 
years.

Investments
Non current asset investments are held on the Balance 
Sheet at cost less impairment.

Stock
Stocks are stated at the lower of their cost and net 
realisable value. Where necessary, provision is made for 
obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand 
and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they 
are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.
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Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:
(a)  the University has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event;
(b)  it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation; and
(c)  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects risks specific to the liability.

Taxation
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of 
Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. It is therefore a charity 
within the meaning of Para 1 of schedule 6 to the Finance 
Act 2010 and accordingly, the University is potentially 
exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by section 478 – 488 
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) or section 
256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the 
extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively 
charitable purposes.

The University is partially exempt in respect of Value 
Added Tax, so that it can only recover a minor element of 
VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is 
included in the costs of such inputs and added to the cost 
of tangible fixed assets as appropriate, where the inputs 
themselves are tangible fixed assets by nature.

The University’s subsidiaries are liable to Corporation Tax in 
the same way as any other commercial organisation.

Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. 
Restricted endowment reserves include balances which, 
through endowment to the University, are held as a 
permanently restricted fund which the University must hold 
in perpetuity.

Other restricted reserves include balances where the 
donor has designated a specific purpose and therefore the 
University is restricted in the use of these funds.

Transition to FRS 102 and 2015 FEHE SORP
The University is preparing its financial statements 
in accordance with FRS 102 for the first time and 
consequently has applied the first time adoption 
requirements. An explanation of how the transition to  
FRS 102 and the SORP has affected the reported 
financial position and financial performance of the 
consolidated results of the University is provided in note 28. 
Comparatives have been restated where necessary for the 
resulting changes in accounting policy.
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Notes to the accounts

1. Tuition fees and education contracts  2016 2016 2015  2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

HE home and EU students  93,061  93,061  89,252  89,252 
HE international students  83,939  83,939  76,772  76,772 
FE home and EU students  594  594  872  872 
FE international students  10,926  10,926  11,786  11,776 
Non-credit bearing courses  15,293  5,283  15,535  5,581 
Exam and registration fees  3,729  3,729  3,471  3,471 

  207,542  197,532  197,688  187,724 

2. Funding body grants

Recurrent grant
Higher Education Funding Council  18,043  18,043  22,733  22,733 
Skills Funding Agency  1,360  1,360  1,476  1,476 
Education Funding Agency  10,220  10,220  5,996  5,996 

Specific grants
Higher Education Funding Council capital grants –buildings  1,265  1,265  1,042  1,042 
Higher Education Funding Council capital grants – equipment 248  248  600  600 
Higher Education Funding Council special initiatives  2,963  2,963  2,504  2,504 
      
  34,099  34,099  34,351  34,351 
     

3. Research grants and contracts

Research councils  703  703  245  245 
Research charities  51  51  28  28 
Government (UK and overseas)  341  341  417  417 
Industry and commerce  1  1  18  18 
Other   140  140  85  85 

  1,236  1,236  793  793 

As restated
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4. Other income  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Residences and catering   25,437  25,437  18,711  18,711 
Retail operations  1,652  1,652  1,609  1,609 
Other revenue grants  1,637  1,637  2,005  2,005
Other income  5,850  9,366  5,792  8,665
Release of benefit arising from acquisitions 10   89  89  89  89 

  34,665  38,181  28,206  31,079 

5. Investment income

Investment income on endowments 20  4  4  14  14 
Investment income on restricted reserves 21  48  48  204  204 
Other investment income  1,843  1,840  1,457  1,452 

 
  1,895  1,892  1,675 1,670 
 
 
6. Donations and endowments

New endowments 25  275  275   –   – 
Donations with restrictions 26  461  461  434  434 
Unrestricted donations  717  717  608  608 
      
  1,453  1,453  1,042  1,042

As restated
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Notes to the accounts

7. Staff costs  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Salaries  116,972 111,603 111,850 106,415
Social security costs  9,466 9,086 8,902 8,536
Movement on USS provision  5 5 419 418
Other pension costs   20,324 19,299 16,526 15,772

Total   146,767 139,993 137,697 131,141

Emoluments of the Vice Chancellor:   2016   2015 
   £  £
Salary   259,398  254,312
 
   259,398  254,312
 

The University made no pension contributions on behalf of the Vice-Chancellor (2015 : nil).

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions is as follows:

    Number of employees 
   2016  2015
   No.  No.
    
£100,000 to £109,999   6  3
£110,000 to £119,999   1  1
£120,000 to £129,999   3  4
£130,000 to £139,999   1  1
£140,000 to £149,999   2  –
£150,000 to £159,999   –  1
£160,000 to £169,999   1  –
£180,000 to £189,999   –  1

   14  11

 Compensation for loss of office to one member of higher paid staff was £111,704 (2015: nil)

Average staff numbers by major category:    Number of employees 
   2016  2015
   No.  No.
 
Teaching departments   1,620  1,609
Teaching support services   357  350
Student services   63  62
Central services   235  223
Premises   126  123
Residences and catering   37  30
Research contracts   15  9
Other   50  43

   2,503  2,449

As restated
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Key management personnel
The Universities Operating Board are the key management personnel which have authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the University. Amounts paid to key management personnel including pension 
costs are as follows: 

  Year ended 31 July 2016  Year ended 31 July 2015  
  £’000  £’000

Staffing Costs (excluding Vice Chancellor)  2,879  2,501
Number of Staff  25  22

Court Members     
The University’s Court of Governor’s are the trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s 
operations and the composition of the Court, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable 
that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Court may have an interest. All transactions 
involving organisations in which a member of Court may have an interest, including those identified below, are conducted at 
arms length and in accordance with the University’s Financial Regulations and usual procurement procedures. 

The University has five Staff Governors who are paid as employees of the University (2015: five Staff Governors). However, 
they do not receive additional remuneration for acting in the capacity of Governors.

No Governors have received any remuneration/waived payments from the group during the year (2015 – none)  
 
The total expenses paid to Governors was £1,245 to four governors (2015: nil). This represents travel and subsistence 
incurred in attending Court of Governors meetings in their official capacity.     
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Notes to the accounts

  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

8. Interest and other finance costs     
     

Loan interest  1,941 1,941 1,855 1,855
Exchange differences  43 33 23  13 
Increase in fair value of derivatives  906 906 564 564
Net charge on pension scheme  27 4,110 4,046 3,606 3,569 
 
  7,000 6,926 6,048 6,001

9. Analysis of total expenditure by activity

Academic departments  20,361 20,882 24,370 24,574
Administration services  11,633 11,633 12,025 12,025
Student services  1,630 1,630 1,716 1,716
Educational Expenditure  7,835 7,836 7,511 7,511
Central Services  4,956 4,956 4,044 4,044 
Premises  24,558 24,558 24,219 24,231 
Residences and Catering  24,561 24,561 18,332 18,332 
Research contracts  560 560 504 504 
Other services rendered  1,629 1,561 1,969 1,940 

 
  97,723 98,177 94,690 94,877

Other operating expenses include:     
External auditors remuneration in respect of audit services  79  67 
External auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 58  140 
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings  23,397  17,652 

Auditors renumeration is stated exclusive of VAT

10. Negative goodwill arising in respect of the assets and activities of the colleges transferred to the University.

   £’000 

Fair Value    
At 31 July 2015 and at 1 August 2015   14,971
   
Released to income and expenditure account 
At 1 August 2015   (10,448)
Release for year   (89)
   
At 31 July 2016   (10,537)

Net Book Value     
At 31 July 2016   4,434
    
At 31 July 2015   4,523

 The amortisation period is commensurate with the recovery of the non-monetary assets acquired. Where the negative 
goodwill relates to land it is amortised over 5 years.
 

As restated
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11. Fixed assets

Consolidated
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2015 338,687 28,450 12,236 14,582  –  20,400 414,355
Additions   –   –   –   –  37,796  –  37,796

At 31 July 2016 338,687 28,450 12,236 14,582 37,796 20,400 452,151
        
       
Consisting of valuation as at: 
1 August 2014 154,700 27,300  –   –   –   –  182,000
Cost 183,987 1,150 12,236 14,582 37,796 20,400 270,151
 
 338,687 28,450 12,236 14,582 37,796 20,400 452,151

Depreciation
At 1 August 2015 17,294 462 6,997 14,568  –   –  39,321
Charge for the year 2,459 20 201 14  –   –  2,694

At 31 July 2016 19,753 482 7,198 14,582  –   –  42,015

Net book value
At 31 July 2016 318,934 27,968 5,038  –  37,796 20,400 410,136

At 31 July 2015 321,393 27,988 5,239 14  –  20,400 375,034

University
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2015 339,016 28,450 12,236 14,252  –  20,400 414,354
Additions  –  –   –   –  37,796  –  37,796

At 31 July 2016 339,016 28,450 12,236 14,252 37,796 20,400 452,150
        
       
Consisting of valuation as at:
1 August 2014 154,700 27,300  –   –   –   –  182,000
Cost 184,316 1,150 12,236 14,252 37,796 20,400 270,150
 
 339,016 28,450 12,236 14,252 37,796 20,400 452,150

Depreciation
At 1 August 2015 17,294 462 6,997 14,237  –   –  38,990
Charge for the year 2,459 20 201 14  –   –  2,694

At 31 July 2016 19,753 482 7,198 14,251  –   –  41,684

Net book value
At 31 July 2016 319,263 27,968 5,038 1 37,796 20,400 410,466
       
At 31 July 2015 321,722 27,988 5,239 15  –  20,400 375,363

At 31 July 2016, freehold land and buildings included £39.9m (2015 – £39.9m) in respect of freehold land that is not depreciated.
     
A full valuation of the Granary Building at Kings Cross was carried out on 1 August 2014 by the valuer, Savills (UK) Limited,  
of the market value of the interest on the basis of full vacant posession. The freehold land and property element was revalued 
from £125.6 million to 154.7 million, the long lease hold property element was revalued from 17.6 million to 27.3 million. 
       
The Group and University has a capital commitment of £26,540,000 at the 31 July 2016 in relation to the completion of the 
redevelopment work on the Camberwell Campus.       
       
        
      

Freehold 
Land and 
Property

£’000

Long  
Leasehold 

Property
£’000

Short  
Leasehold 

Property
£’000

Fixtures, 
Fittings and 
Equipment

£’000

Assets in the 
Course of  

Construction
£’000

Heritage 
assets
£’000

Total
£’000
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12. Heritage assets

 Heritage assets are measured at valuation as explained below. There have been no additions or disposals since 2010:

The University owns a sculpture by Henry Moore (1898 – 1986): Two-Piece Reclining Figure No.1, (1959). The bronze was 
donated to Chelsea School of Art in 1963 after a purpose-built school was opened on Manresa Road. The discussions 
surrounding the donation of the sculpture from Henry Moore are detailed in minutes of the Governors’ meetings in 
1963 –1964. The sculpture represents an important development in Moore’s work, being the first time he separated the 
reclining figure into two pieces. It is currently on loan to the Yorkshire Sculpture Park. The sculpture was formally valued  
for insurance purposes in March 2015, 2008, 2006 and 2001 by Stancliffe and Glover Limited (fine art specialist). Due to 
the length of time elapsed since acquisition, it has been deemed that the value in 2001 (£2 million), the earliest value readily 
attainable, should be taken as the book value at acquisition. There was an upward revaluation of £5 million in 2013 –14 
to a total revalued amount of £10 million. The valuation is based on the probable cost of replacing the item in its current 
condition with a comparable item in similar condition by purchase in the normal retail market at the valuation date.

In March 2007, extensive archives of the late acclaimed filmmaker Stanley Kubrick (1928 – 1999) were donated to the 
University. The Kubrick Archive contains comprehensive collections of materials relating to film production comprising 
scripts, treatments, drafts, extensive working and research documents, correspondence, costumes, props, models, 
production schedules, photography, books and film equipment. The Archives are housed in a purpose-built Archives  
and Special Collections Centre at the London College of Communication to ensure that the archives are preserved and 
on display for posterity. They are accessible to students, researchers, and the general public by arrangement. The Kubrick 
Archive is included in the balance sheet as a collection based on the insurance value since acquisition of £10.4 million.

Notes to the accounts

13. Non-Current Investments

Consolidated Subsidiary companies Other fixed asset investments Total
 £ £ £
   
At 1 August 2015 and 31 July 2016 307 341 648
   
 
University Subsidiary companies Other fixed asset investments Total
 £ £ £

At 1 August 2015 and 31 July 2016 307 341 648
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14. Stock  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
     
Catering stocks  45 45  44  44 
Retail stocks  389  351  449  396 
  
  434  396  493  440 

15. Trade and other receivables  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables  2,096  2,011  1,857  1,639 
Other receivables  1,156  1,164  2,287  2,515 
Prepayments and accrued income  4,894 4,817  3,644  3,511 
Amounts due from subsidiary companies   –  2,017   –  83 

  8,146  10,009  7,788  7,748 

16. Current Investments  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Short term deposits  124,038  124,038  115,786  115,786 
Financial derivatives – Interest rate caps  383 383 1,289 1,289

  124,421  124,421 117,075  117,075 

Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Services 
Authority with more than three months maturity at the balance sheet date. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for 
the duration of the deposit at time of placement.

At 31 July 2016 the weighted average interest rate of these fixed rate deposits was 1.21% per annum and the remaining 
weighted average period for which the interest rate is fixed on these deposits was 201 days. The fair value of these 
deposits was not materially different from the book value.

As restated
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Notes to the accounts

17. Creditors : amounts falling due within one year  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Secured loans  537  537  537  537 
Trade payables  9,793  9,646  7,797  7,724 
Social security and other taxation payable  3,610 3,602  3,595  3,601 
Accruals and deferred income  32,656  29,677  28,361  25,512 
Other Creditors  9,803  9,667  14,218  13,911 
Amounts due to subsidary companies   –  6,648   –  4,571 
      
  56,399  59,777  54,508  55,856

Deferred income
Included within accruals and deferred income are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific 
performance related conditions have been met.
  2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
     
Deferred Capital Grant  1,550  1,550  1,516  1,516 
Other income  28,041  25,431  23,134  20,780 

  29,591  26,981  24,650  22,296 

As restated
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 2016 2016 2015 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Deferred income – capital grants  20,151 20,149 20,649 20,649
Funding Council Repayable Grants   –   –  350 350
Unsecured loans  97,982 97,982 98,519 98,519

  118,133 118,131 119,518 119,518

Analysis of secured and unsecured loans:

Due within one year or on demand  537 537 537 537 
Due between one and two years  537 537 537 537
Due between two and five years  1,611 1,611 1,611 1,611
Due in five years or more  95,834 95,834 96,371 96,371

Due after more than one year  97,982 97,982 98,519 98,519

Total secured and unsecured loans  98,519 98,519 99,056 99,056
      
      
    
Unsecured loans repayable  98,519 98,519 99,056 99,056

  98,519 98,519  99,056 99,056

Long-term debt shown in the note above is repayable in installments at variable rates of interest by November 2038. The 
University has in place a number of financial instruments to limit its exposure to interest rate fluxuations as detailed in note 23.

The University also has in place a further £80m facility to fund its future capital developments and a £45 million bridging 
loan facility to cover potential timing differences between the investment outlay and receipt of funds from the disposal of 
properties to be vacated.     
 
The above government capital grant has been accounted for under the accruals concept.

As restated
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Notes to the accounts

19. Provisions for liabilities 

Consolidated
At 1 August 2015   823 6,472 107,379 114,674 4,364
Movement in year   24 (33) 54,101 54,092 (365)

At 31 July 2016   847 6,439 161,480 168,766 3,999

University
At 1 August 2015   823 6,472 105,322 112,617 4,364
Movement in year   24 (33) 53,946 53,937 (365)

At 31 July 2016   847 6,439 159,268 166,554 3,999

Leasehold dilapidation
The leasehold dilapidation provision relates to the projected cost to return leased property to the condition at the beginning 
of the lease.
  
USS deficit
The obligation to fund the past deficit on the Universitys’ Superannuation Scheme (USS) arises from the contractual 
obligation with the pension scheme for total payments relating to benefits arising from past performance. Management 
have assessed future employees within the USS scheme and salary payment over the period of the contracted obligation  
in assessing the value of this provision.

See pension note 27 for further details.

Obligation to  
fund deficit on  

USS Pension
£’000

Pension  
enhancements 
on termination

£’000

Defined Benefit  
Obligations  

(Note 27)
£’000

Total  
Pensions  

Provisions
£’000

Leasehold
Dilapidation

£’000
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20. Endowment Reserves

 Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:

Balances at 1 August 2015
Capital 2,603  472  612  3,687  3,533 
Accumulated income 366  57  15  438  408

 2,969  529  627  4,125  3,941 

New endowments 275   –   –  275   –
Investment income 32  17  4  53  63 
Expenditure (11) (14) (3) (28) (33)
Increase / (decrease) in market value of investments 35  (12) (4) 19  154 

Total endowment comprehensive income for the year 331  (9) (3) 319  184 

At 31 July 2016 3,300  520  624  4,444  4,125 

Represented by:
Capital 2,913  460  608  3,981  3,687  
Accumulated income 387  60  16  463  438

 3,300  520  624  4,444  4,125 

Analysis by type of purpose:
University Chairs 1,484  –   –  1,484  1,412 
Scholarships, bursaries and prizes 1,816  520  624  2,960  2,713 
 
 3,300  520  624  4,444  4,125
 
Analysis by asset 
Current and non-current asset investments    4,313  3,785 
Cash and cash equivalents    131  340 

    4,444  4,125 

Restricted  
permanent  

endowments
£’000

 Unrestricted  
permanent  

endowments 
£’000

 Expendable 
endowments 

£’000
2016 Total

£’000
2015 Total

£’000

As restated
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Notes to the accounts

21. Restricted Reserves

Reserves with restrictions are as follows:
 Unspent capital grants   Donations  2016 Total 2015 Total 
   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 
     
Balances at 1 August 2015  1,466  1,112  2,578   2,403
New donations   –  461  461  434
Capital grants utilised  (188)  –  (188) (188)
Expenditure   –  (865) (865) (71)

Total restricted comprehensive income for the year  (188) (404) (592)  175 
 
At 31 July 2016  1,278  708  1,986   2,578 

    2016 Total 2015 Total 
     £’000   £’000 

Analysis of other restricted funds /donations by type of purpose:    £’000   £’000 
Scholarships and bursaries    475 718
Research support    232 253
General    1,279 1,607

    1,986 2,578

22. Cash and cash equivalents
  At 1st August 2015 Cash Flows At 31st July 2016
  £’000 £’000 £’000
Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents  71,681 (11,548) 60,133
 
  71,681 (11,548) 60,133

As restated

As restated
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23. Financial instruments

Interest Rate Cap Agreements

The University has five financial instruments to limit its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on loan agreements entered 
into as part of the capital development program. The caps cover a range of periods over the life of the University’s loan 
agreements. The following summarises the Interest Rate Caps that are in place as at 31 July 2016:

Instrument Type Total Notional Amount   Maturity Date  Capped Rate 
 £’000    

Floating to Fixed 90,000 02/10/2017 – 03/05/2024 2.50% – 6.0% 
  

The fair value is determined by the quoted market price provided by the institution the agreement is held with.

The fair value of derivative instruments was an asset position of 2016: £383,230 (2015: £1,289,492), which has been 
included within Investments on the face of the Balance Sheet. The current year loss recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure was £906,262.

24. Lease obligations

Total rentals payable under operating leases. All relate to land and buildings:

 31 July 2016 31 July 2015
 £’000 £’000

Payable during the year 23,397 17,652

Future minimum lease payments due:
Not later than 1 year 22,211 17,652
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 86,584 68,879
Later than 5 years 202,247 143,177

Total lease payments due 311,042 229,708

As restated
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25. Subsidiary undertakings   
 
The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in England & Wales), wholly-owned or effectively controlled by the 
University, are as follows:

Company Principal Activity Status Ordinary shares of £1
    
London Artscom Limited Short courses and consultancy 100% owned 100
Artscom Ventures Limted International short courses and consultancy. 100% owned 2

Non-trading subsidaries are as follows
Cochrane Theatre Company Did not trade 100% owned 2
Creative Vacations Limited Did not trade 100% owned 202
London Arts Property Limited Did not trade 100% owned 1

   307

Shares owned by subsidary entities 
UAL Ventures (China) Did not trade 100% owned by 1 
   Artscom Ventures Limited 

26. Connected charitable Institutions

A number of charitable institutions are administered by or on behalf of the University and have been established for its 
general or special purposes. As a result, under paragraph 28 of Schedule 3 to the Charities Act 2011, these connected 
institutions are exempt from registration with the Charity Commission. These activities are included within the University’s 
results and may be analysed as follows: 

           Change in Closing 
   Opening balance Income Expenditure  market value balance 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Consolidated
Bursaries, scholarships and prizes (2 entities)  1,412 40 (31) 1 1,422 
University chairs (2 entities)   2,505 12 0 21 2,538
   
   3,917 52 (31) 22 3,960



55www.arts.ac.uk

27. Pension Schemes

(i) Teachers’ Pension Scheme
 TPS is typically valued every 4 years by the Government Actuary. Contributions are paid by the University at the rate 
specified following a valuation. The Scheme is unfunded and contributions are made to the Exchequer. The payments  
from the Scheme are made from the funds voted by Parliament. The contribution rate payable by the employer for the 
period beginning 1 September 2015 is 16.48% of pensionable salaries

 The TPS is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme. The University is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the University applies the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its 
contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

(i) The Universities Superannuation Scheme
The Universities’ Superannuation Scheme (USS) provides benefits based on final pensionable salary. The assets of the 
scheme are held in a separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Limited.

Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not allocated to individual Universities and a  
scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other 
Universities’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a 
consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102(28), accounts for the scheme as if it were a  
defined contribution scheme.

As a result, the amount charged to the income and expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the 
scheme in respect of the accounting period.

The contribution rate payable by the University to USS is 18% of pensionable salaries. The latest triennial actuarial valuation 
of the scheme was at 31 March 2014. This was the second valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime 
introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have 
sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. The actuary also carries out regular reviews of the 
funding levels.

The University provides for the net present value of USS deficit funding contributions it is required to make in future years. 
The provision within the accounts at 31st July 2016 is £847,000 (2015: £823,000).
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27. Pensions (continued)

(ii) Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and Enhanced TPS Contributions
The LGPS is a funded scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay with the assets held by a number 
of Pension Authorities in separate trustee administered funds. The University is covered by the London Pension Fund 
Authority.

There are two separate valuations of LGPS schemes as at 31 July 2016. They relate to the University and London Artscom 
Limited. There is also a separate actuarial valuation of enhanced TPS pension entitlements arising from early retirements 
taken by staff under past reorganisation programmes.

Assumptions 
The financial assumptions used to calculate the University’s scheme liabilities under FRS102 are:  
 
   %pa
   
Price Inflation (RPI)   3.1
Price Inflation (CPI)   2.2 
Rate of increase in salaries   4.0 
Rate of increase in pensions   2.2 
Discount rate   2.6

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, 
due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The average future 
life expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:

 Retiring today Retiring in 20 years
  Male Female Male Female
  Years Years Years Years

LPFA (UAL)  21.9 25.2 24.3 27.5
LPFA (London Artscom)  21.7 24.9 23.9 27.1
TPS Enhanced  22.9 25.3 25.2 27.7
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27. Pensions (continued)

 Local Government Pension Scheme – University and Artscom

The following information is based upon an actuarial valuation at 31 July 2016 by a qualified actuary. 

The agreed contribution rates for period was 17.2% per cent for employers plus additional contributions of £262,000 per 
month up to 31 March 2016 and £273,000 per month from 1 April 2016. And between 5.5 and 7.5 per cent for employees 
throughout future periods.

The University’s share of the scheme assets represents an estimated 3 per cent of the total assets of the LGPS, which are 
not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant change before they are realised, and the 
present value of the scheme’s liabilities, which are derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus inherently 
uncertain, was:

Fair value as at  31 July 2016 31 July 2015 31 July 2014
  £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities  95,533 73,166 65,501
Target return funds  45,151 32,148 42,634
Cash  7,724 21,358 20,638
Cashflow matching  16,226 23,924 9,103
Infrastructure  13,119 8,884 4,976 
Commodities  993 743 1,588
Property  6,942 5,196  4,085

Total  185,688 165,419 148,525
 
The expected return on assets was 5% per annum.
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27. Pensions (continued)

   Year Ended Year Ended
   31 July 2016 31 July 2015 
   £’000 £’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for LGPS pension:    
Scheme assets   185,688 165,419
Scheme liabilities   (347,168) (272,798)
 
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability   (161,480) (107,379)
 
recorded within pension provisions (Note 24) 
 
Amounts charged to other operating expenditure
Current service cost   12,734 10,958 
Past service costs   157 56
Adminsitration expenses   248 223
 
Total operating charge:   13,139 11,237
 
Analysis of the amount charged to interest payable/ 
credited to other finance income for LGPS 
Interest cost   (10,361) (9,925) 
Interest on assets   6,507 6,604
 
Net charge to other finance income   (3,854) (3,321)
 
Total profit and loss charge before deduction for tax  
 
Analysis of other comprehensive income for LGPS:  
Change in financial assumptions   (52,147) (21,584) 
Experience gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligation   74 (1) 
Return on assets less interest   2,598 320
 
 Total other comprehensive income before deduction for tax  (49,475) (21,265)

As restated
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27. Pensions (continued)

    At 31 July 2016  At 31 July 2015
   £000s £000s

Defined benefit obligation    
Deficit at beginning of year   272,798 231,329
Current service cost    12,734 10,958
Interest cost   10,361 9,925
Change in financial assumptions   52,147 21,584
Experience (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation   (74) 1
Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in   (4,448) (4,440) 
Past service costs, including curtailments   157 56
Contributions by Scheme participants and other employers  3,617 3,515
Unfunded pension payments   (124) (130)
   
Deficit at end of year   347,168 272,798
 
 
Fair value of fund assets  
Present value at the start of the year   165,419 148,525 
Interest on assets   6,507 6,604 
Return on assets less interest   2,598 320 
Administration expenses   (248) (223) 
Contributions by employer including unfunded   12,367 11,248 
Contributions by Scheme participants and other employers  3,617 3,515 
 Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in  (4,572) (4,570)
 
Present value at the end of the year   185,688 165,419

As restated
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27. Pensions (continued)

Local Government Pension Scheme – Enhanced pensions – Teachers’ Pensions Scheme
The following information is based upon an actuarial valuation at 31 July 2016 by a qualified actuary. 
     
    Year Ended Year Ended
   31 July 2016 31 July 2015 
   £’000 £’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for LGPS pension:    
Scheme liabilities   (6,439) (6,472)
 
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability   (6,439) (6,472)

Analysis of the amount charged to finance costs for LGPS 
Interest cost   237 270
 
Net charge to finance costs   237 270
 
Total profit and loss charge before deduction for tax    

Analysis of other comprehensive income for LGPS:   
Change in financial assumptions   (441) (225)
Experience gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligation   246 70
  
Total other comprehensive income before deduction for tax  (195) (155)

    At 31 July 2016  At 31 July 2015
   £000s £000s

Defined benefit obligation 
Deficit at beginning of year   6,472 6,523
Interest cost   237 270
Change in financial assumptions   441 225
Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation   (246) (70)
Unfunded pension payments   (465) (476)
 
Deficit at end of year   6,439 6,472

As restated
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28. Transition to FRS102 and the 2015 SORP  
 
As explained in the accounting policies, these are the University’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with 
FRS 102 and the SORP. The accounting policies set out in Note 1 have been applied in preparing the financial statements 
for the year ended 2015, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 2015 
and in the preparation of an opening FRS 102 Statement of Financial Position at 1 August 2014. In preparing its FRS 
102, SORP based Statement of Financial Position, the University has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial 
statements prepared in accordance with its old basis of accounting (2007 SORP). An explanation of how the transition to 
FRS 102 and the SORP has affected the University’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in 
the following tables.

 August 2014  August 2014 July 2015 July 2015 
 Consolidated University Consolidated University
Financial position £000s £000s £000s  £000s
 
Total reserves under 2007 SORP 253,357 253,575 254,470 254,692 
 
1 USS pension provision (439) (439) (823) (823) 
2 Revenue restatement 749 749 972 972 
3 Employee leave accrual (4,975) (4,924) (5,023) (4,973) 
4 Negative Goodwill 7,032 7,032 7,032 7,032 
5 Deferred Capital Grant (22,374) (22,374) (22,165) (22,165) 
6 Financial derivatives – interest rate caps 1,110 1,110 1,289 1,289 
7 Revaluation of Kings Cross Site 38,733 38,733 38,733 38,733
 
Total effect of transition to FRS 102 19,836 19,887 20,015 20,065 
 
Total reserves under 2015 SORP 273,193 273,462 274,485 274,757
 

1.   The University has now provided for the net present value of USS deficit funding contributions it is required to make in 
future years.

2.   Income from non-exhange transactions are accounted for on a performance basis under FRS 102. This has lead to an 
element of income which was deferred under previous accounting standards being released.

3.  An accrual is required under FRS 102 for employees’ annual leave which was earnt but not taken by the year-end.
4.   Negative goodwill relating to land was previously retained until the asset was disposed of. This is now released over a 

period of 5 years.
5.  Deferred Capital Grants were previously presented within reserves, they are now classified as liabilities. Additionally non-

government grants have been released on a performance basis.
6.  Financial derivatives in the form of interest rate caps have been capitalised at fair value.
7.  The Kings Cross site was revalued by Savills (UK) Ltd.    
     
  

As restated
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28.  Transition to FRS102 and the 2015 SORP 
(continued)  

   Consolidated University
Financial performance   £’000s  £’000s
 
Surplus for the year under 2007 SORP   25,286 24,528 
 
1. USS pension provision   (384) (384) 
2. Revenue restatement   223 223 
3. Employee leave accrual   (50) (49) 
4. Endowments   154 154 
5. Capital grants   (188) (188) 
6. Interest rate cap cost reversal   743 743 
7. Interest rate cap – fair value movement   (564) (564) 
8. Pension scheme finance cost   (2,285) (2,208)
 
Total effect of transition to FRS 102   (2,351) (2,273) 
 
Surplus for the year under 2015 SORP   22,935 22,255
 

1.   The University has now provided for the net present value of USS deficit funding contributions it is required to make in 
future years.    

2.   Income from non-exhange transactions are accounted for on a performance basis under FRS 102. This has lead to an 
element of income which was deferred under FRS 102 being released. 

3.  The movement in the Employee annual leave provision from 31st July 2014 to 31st July 2015. 
4.   Market Value of Endowments is now presented within the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Previously it was 

presented in the Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses.
5.   Capital Grants from non-government sources are now accounted for using a performance model. The grant is therefore    

no longer released over the economic life of the asset.
6.  A new interest rate cap was purchased in 2014/15 and expended during the year. This has now been capitalised, under 

FRS 102.
7. Market value movement on interest rate caps.
8.  Under FRS 102, the finance cost/income recognised in respect of defined benefit pension schemes is calculated using 

only the net asset/liability and the discount rate, and expected returns on scheme assets are disregarded. There is an 
equal and opposite adjustment to actuarial gains/losses for the year and so there is no net effect on the scheme liability 
and therefore the Group’s equity.

Cash Flows
 The only impact of the transition to FRS 102 on the cash flows of the University or the Group is the reclassification of some 
short term investments to cash and cash equivalents as shown above.

Year ended 31 July 2015
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29. Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Court of Governors (being drawn from local, 
public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a 
member of the Court of Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the 
Court of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s financial 
regulations and normal procurement procedures.

The following related party transactions took place during the year. All transactions were undertaken on an arms-length 
basis: 

Expenditure totalling £7,200 (2015: £5,760) was paid to Creative Industries Federation, relating to the University’s annual 
membership fee. The entity is related to the University by virtue of a Director, Nigel Carrington, and Chair, Sir John Sorrell 
being governors of the University.

Expenditure totalling £345,365 (2015: £427,816) was paid to Fashion Retail Academy (FRA), relating mainly to teaching 
grant and fee income paid to FRA for the provision of educational services to students on behalf of the University. The entity 
is related to the University by virtue of Trustees, Andrew Hughes and Stephen Reid, being a governor of the University and 
a member of the University Executive Board respectively.

Expenditure totalling £2,500 (2015: £2,500) was paid to International Student House, relating solely to the International 
Partnership Scheme. The entity is related to the University by virtue of a trustee, Nigel Carrington, being a governor and a 
member of the University Executive Board.

Expenditure totalling £215,186 (2015: £nil) was paid to Thames Water Utilities Limited, relating to use of utilities on UAL 
sites. The entity is related to the University by virtue of a Non-Executive Director, Lorraine Baldry, being a governor of the 
University

Expenditure totalling £66,560 (2015: £nil) was paid to Universities UK. The entity is related to the University by virtue of a 
Unremunerated Director, Nigel Carrington, being a governor and a member of the University Executive Board.

Expenditure totalling £805,732 (2015: £1,076,160) was paid to the Students’ Union, relating mainly to a grant payable to 
support their activities. The entity is related to the University by virtue of a representative of the Students’ Union being a 
governor of the University.
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